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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS OF 2019 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
OPERATING RESULTS

The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 
provides management’s perspective on key issues 
that affect the current and future performance of 
the Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation 
Commission (operating as WorkSafeNB). The MD&A, 
prepared as at June 25, 2020, should be read in 
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 
statements and supporting notes for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements 
about certain matters that are, by their nature, subject 
to many risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 
results to differ materially from these statements. 
Forward-looking statements include, but are not 
limited to, WorkSafeNB’s objectives, strategies, 
targeted and expected financial results, and the 
outlook for its business and for the New Brunswick 
and global economies. Risks and uncertainties 
include, but are not limited to, changing market, 
industry and general economic factors or conditions; 
changes in legislation affecting WorkSafeNB policies 
and practices; changes in accounting standards; the 
ability to retain and recruit qualified staff; and other 
risks, known or unknown. The reader is cautioned not 
to place undue reliance on these forward-looking 
statements.

The Annual Report, Strategic Plan, and Assessment 
Rates material are available at worksafenb.ca. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

WorkSafeNB recorded a surplus of $311.7 million in 
2019 compared to a deficit of $271.5 million in 2018. 
The surplus is primarily the result of strong investment 
returns, an increase in assessment revenue and lower 
than expected claims costs. The investment return in 
2019 was 14.0% compared to negative 1.3% in 2018. 
The 2019 assessment rate increased from a $1.70 in 
2018 to $2.65 in 2019. Injured workers claims costs 
were lower; primarily driven by a decrease in the 
number of hearing loss claims reported, along with 
lower acceptance rates as stronger guidelines limited 
cases to only those related to exposure to hazardous 
noise levels within the workplace.  This combination 
of strong investment returns, higher assessment rates 
and lower than expected claims costs resulted in an 
overall funded position of $77.7 million, or 105.1%.
 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of WorkSafeNB and WorkSafeNB 
Investments Limited (WSNBIL). WSNBIL is a subsidiary 
over which WorkSafeNB exercises control, and is 
defined as having the power to direct the relevant 
activities of an entity, having exposure or rights to 
variable returns of the entity, and having the ability 
to affect the returns through the power it holds. 
WSNBIL holds infrastructure and real estate assets 
in trust for WorkSafeNB, the Workers Compensation 
Board of Prince Edward Island (WCB of PEI) and 
the Firefighters’ Compensation (FC) Act Disability 
Fund, pursuant to agreements for the combined 
administration of their respective investments. 
Although WorkSafeNB does not have legal rights to 
the proportionate shares that the WCB of PEI and the 
FC Act Disability Fund hold in WSNBIL, International 
Financial Reporting Standard 10 (IFRS 10) requires 
WorkSafeNB to present consolidated financial 
statements as they have control over WSNBIL as 
defined in IFRS 10. As a result, WSNBIL has been fully 
consolidated in these financial statements. 
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The proportionate ownership of the net assets of 
WSNBIL as at December 31, 2019 was: WorkSafeNB 
– 85.7%, WCB of PEI – 12.8%, FC Act Disability 
Fund – 1.5%. All transactions and balances between 
WorkSafeNB and WSNBIL are eliminated on 
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, 
represent the portion of WSNBIL’s net assets that are 
held by the WCB of PEI and the FC Act Disability Fund.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

The key components of WorkSafeNB’s consolidated 
balance sheet are its investments, benefits liabilities 
and funded position.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Consolidated Balance Sheet   (Restated)
($millions) 2019 2018

Portfolio investments 1,521.7 1,294.7

Benefits liabilities 1,505.1 1,576.3

WorkSafeNB fund balance  77.7  (234.1)

WorkSafeNB funded ratio 105.1% 85.3%

Investments
WorkSafeNB’s investment portfolio must be 
customized to reflect its purpose, time horizon, 
liquidity requirements, legal constraints and its 
stakeholders’ risk tolerance. The primary investment 
risk is that the investment fund’s assets, together 
with the future income thereon, will be insufficient 
to pay the liabilities. WorkSafeNB relies on periodic 
asset liability studies performed by independent 
actuarial consultants to ensure that the investment 
strategy is suitable in light of the related liabilities.

Most of the investment portfolio is held to meet 
payment obligations that extend for many years into 
the future. As a consequence, WorkSafeNB takes 
a long-term approach to finding an acceptable 
risk/return trade-off via the investment strategy. 
WorkSafeNB’s investment policies and practices are 
designed to maximize the probability of meeting its 
performance objectives over the long-term at an 
acceptable risk level; from year-to-year, short-term 
fluctuations in financial markets could cause the 
investment portfolio to significantly over- or under-
perform its long-term performance objectives. 

WorkSafeNB believes that the most important factor 
in determining investment risk and return is the 
asset mix. In 2019, WorkSafeNB completed an asset 
liability study, which was designed to help determine 
an appropriate asset mix given its risk tolerance, the 
nature of the liabilities and WorkSafeNB’s financial 
position. As a result of the study, the targeted asset 
mix was amended to: 16% Canadian bonds, 15% 
Canadian equities, 14% U.S. equities, 14% international 
(EAFE) equities, 4% emerging markets equities, 
15% real estate, 10% infrastructure, 10% in a global 
opportunistic strategy and 2% cash.
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This asset mix is designed to reduce the volatility in 
WorkSafeNB’s annually reported operating income, 
funded ratio and assessment rates. 

The table below shows the fair value of WorkSafeNB 
investments by investment type as of December 31.

INVESTMENTS 
($millions) 2019 2018

Forward foreign  
exchange contracts  3.3 (15.5)

Fixed income 244.3 202.2

Equities 722.9 588.6

Real return bonds 47.0 42.7

Real estate 240.4 225.5

Infrastructure 111.5 110.2

Global Opportunistic 152.3 141.0

Total investments 1,521.7 1,294.7

WorkSafeNB’s investment strategy is documented in 
the Statement of Investment Philosophy and Beliefs 
Policy and the Investment Goals and Objectives 
Policy. The Statement of Investment Philosophy and 
Beliefs Policy documents the governance structure 
for investments, WorkSafeNB’s commitment to a 
disciplined approach to investing, WorkSafeNB’s view 
on diversification as a method to reduce risk, the 
importance of the asset allocation decision, along 
with WorkSafeNB’s view on ethics and investment 
education. 

The Investment Goals and Objectives Policy identifies 
the policy asset mix and the performance objectives, 
and defines eligible investments and limits on risk 
concentrations. All of WorkSafeNB’s investments 
are managed by independent external investment 
managers. The compliance of these portfolio 
managers with policy is monitored regularly. 

To minimize the volatility of returns, WorkSafeNB’s 
portfolio is diversified among asset classes, industry 
sectors, geographic locations and individual 
securities. WorkSafeNB further diversifies by selecting 
investment managers with varying investment 
mandates and styles.

Change in Accounting Policy 
During 2019, as part of planning for International 
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 17, effective 
January 1, 2023, WorkSafeNB conducted a thorough 
review of its accounting for actuarial liabilities for 
self-insured employers. Previously reporting under 
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, benefit liabilities for self-
insured employers were presented as a liability on 
the balance sheet with a corresponding receivable 
from the self-insured employer as an asset. Claim 
payments received from self-insured employers, 
payments of claims for self-insured employees and 
changes to the self-insured benefit liabilities were 
reported gross in the income statement.

Our analysis concluded that self-insured employers 
do not fall within the scope of IFRS 4 and should 
be reported in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers. As a result, prior 
year liabilities, assessment revenue and claims costs 
have been adjusted to reflect the new accounting 
treatment. The revised accounting treatment did not 
have any impact on WorkSafeNB’s funded position.
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Benefits Liabilities
At the end of each fiscal year, WorkSafeNB 
determines its benefits liabilities for all accidents that 
have occurred to that date. These liabilities represent 
the actuarial present value of all future benefits and 
related administration costs. 

As at December 31, 2019 claim benefit liabilities were 
broken down as follows:

BENEFITS LIABILITIES (Restated)
($millions) 2019 2018

Short-term disability  
and rehabilitation 162.2 160.0

Long-term disability 668.8 691.2

Survivor benefits 74.3 77.5

Health care 599.8 647.6

Total benefits liability 1,505.1 1,576.3

Fund Balance
WorkSafeNB is dedicated to building a strong, stable, 
and sustainable workers’ compensation system that 
serves New Brunswick’s workers and employers 
today and in the years to come. A key component 
of sustainability is WorkSafeNB’s funding policy. 
In 2019, WorkSafeNB reviewed its funding policy 
and implemented changes focused on providing 
assessment rate stability and protecting benefits. Key 
changes that were implemented include moving the 
funding target from 110% to between 115% and 125% 
and increasing the amortization period from eight 
years to 10 years. This permitted excess of assets 
over liabilities reduces the impact of year-to-year 
fluctuations, therefore, providing assessment rate 
stabilization and enhanced security that awarded 
benefits will be met. The assessment revenue raised 
in any year from assessed employers may include 
or be reduced by an amount designed to allow 
WorkSafeNB to attain its funding goal. 

WorkSafeNB’s funded ratio at December 31, 
2019 is 105% (2018 – 85%). Under the Workers’ 
Compensation Act, a minimum funding level of 100% 
is required, with any shortfall to be recovered within a 
reasonable and prudent period not greater than  
15 years.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Consolidated Income Statement  (Restated)
($millions) 2019 2018

Assessed premium revenue 261.9 164.2

Administration fee revenue 10.6 10.0

Investment income 184.2 (17.6)

Claims costs incurred 86.7 367.7

Administration costs 53.7 52.5

Net income (loss) attributable  
to WorkSafeNB 311.7 (271.5)

Market rate of return  
of portfolio 14.0% (1.3%)

REVENUES

WorkSafeNB’s revenue is derived from two sources: 
assessment revenue and investment income. In 2019 
revenues totalled $456.7 million, a 192% increase 
from 2018 revenues of $156.6 million. 

Assessment Revenue
Assessment revenue consists of premiums from 
assessed employers and administration fee revenue 
from self-insured employers. Assessed employers 
pay premiums based on their assessment rate and 
assessable payroll. The assessment rate is applied 
to each $100 of assessable payroll to arrive at the 
total premium. Administration fee revenue from self-
insured employers reflects an appropriate share of 
administration costs to administer the claims.
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Overall, assessment revenue increased 56% from 
$174.2 million in 2018 to $272.5 million in 2019. 
Revenue from assessed employers increased 60% 
primarily due to an increase in the provisional average 
assessment rate from $1.70 in 2018 to $2.65 in 2019. 
Assessable payrolls were higher than budgeted by 
2%. Administration fee revenue from self-insured 
employers increased by 6% from $10.0 million in 
2018 to $10.6 million in 2019. Employer payrolls 
increased from $9.69 billion to $9.96 billion because 
of increased activity in construction, manufacturing 
and business services, provincial economic growth, 
and the annual increase to the maximum insurable 
earnings. In 2019 the maximum insurable earnings 
increased from $63,600 to $64,800.

ASSESSMENT REVENUE  (Restated)
($millions) 2019 2018

Assessed employers 261.9 164.2

Administration fee revenue  
– self-insured employers  10.6 10.0

Total assessment revenue 272.5 174.2

Assessable payroll $9.96 $9.69  
 billion billion

Investment Income
Investment income increased from a loss of $17.6 
million in 2018 to a gain of $184.2 million in 2019. 
The increase is attributable to unrealized gains on 
investments due to positive returns in most capital 
markets in 2019.

Investment income is an important revenue stream 
for WorkSafeNB. It is relied on to supplement 
assessments to cover total expenses for the year. 
Built into the valuation of the benefits liabilities and 
into the assessment rate-setting model is the long-
term assumption that WorkSafeNB’s investments 
will generate an annual real rate of return of 3.75%. 
In 2019, the real rate of return on the portfolio was 
11.8%. For the 25-year period ended December 
31, 2019, the annualized real rate of return on the 
portfolio was 5.7%.

INVESTMENT INCOME 
($millions) 2019 2018

Interest and dividends 36.2 34.0

Net realized gains  
on investments 31.0 37.2

Change in net unrealized  
gains on investments 123.6 (82.4)

Portfolio management  
expenses (6.6) (6.4)

Total investment income 184.2 (17.6)

EXPENSES

WorkSafeNB’s expenses consist of claims costs, 
administration costs, and legislative obligations. 
In 2019, expenses decreased by 66% from $423.7 
million to $143.9 million.

EXPENSES (Restated)
($millions) 2019 2018

Claims costs 
 Benefit payments  157.9 167.2

  Changes in actuarial  
valuation of benefits  
liabilities (71.2) 200.5

Administration costs  53.7  52.5

Legislative obligations 3.5 3.5

Total expenses 143.9 423.7

Claims Costs
Claims costs represent costs incurred in the current 
year for current and prior year injuries. These costs 
include benefit payments made and changes in the 
actuarial valuation of the benefits liability. In 2019, 
these costs totalled $86.7 million; a 76% decrease 
from the $367.7 million incurred in 2018. This decrease 
is primarily attributable to strengthening processes 
for accepting hearing loss claims arising out of and in 
the course of employment. As a result, total benefit 
payments in 2019 decreased by $9.4 million, primarily 
due to a reduction in new accident payments.
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Fundamental to the actuarial valuation are the 
discount rates used to value the liabilities. The 
assumed discount rate for 2019 remained unchanged 
at 6.08%.

CLAIMS COSTS  (Restated)
($millions) 2019 2018

Short-term disability and  
rehabilitation  43.9 75.1

Long-term disability  29.5 100.1

Survivor benefits 4.4 6.2

Health care  8.9 186.3

Total claims costs 86.7 367.7

Administration Costs
WorkSafeNB’s administration costs increased  
by $1.2 million (2.4%) from $52.5 million in 2018 to  
$53.7 million in 2019. 

Legislative Obligations
WorkSafeNB is required by legislation to reimburse 
the provincial government for operating costs of the 
workers’ and employers’ advocates, which were $1.3 
million in 2019 (2018 – $1.2 million) and $1.5 million 
in 2019 (2018 - $1.6 million) for WCAT. 

In 2019, WorkSafeNB provided $710 thousand (2018 
- $688 thousand) of financial assistance to three 
safety associations as per the Workers’ Compensation 
(WC) Act – the New Brunswick Construction Safety 
Association, the New Brunswick Continuing Care 
Safety Association, and the New Brunswick Forest 
Safety Association. The money paid is levied against 
all employers in the industries represented by 
the safety associations and is included as part of 
assessment income.

KEY FINANCIAL DRIVERS

Employment, Accident Frequency and Claim Duration
Work-related injuries arise from employment. 
Changes in New Brunswick’s employment base 
and trends in injury frequency and claim duration 
are the primary drivers of WorkSafeNB’s operations 
and the key determinants of the assessment rates 
that employers pay, as well as the claims costs paid 
directly by self-insured employers.

Some of the forces that can mitigate increases in 
injury frequency are:

•  Good safety practices by both workers and 
employers.

• A workplace culture of safety leadership.
•  WorkSafeNB’s focus on providing the right 

services to the right employer/industry at the 
right time.

Some of the forces that can positively influence claim 
duration are:

•  A focus on early intervention, stay at work, and 
safe return to work.

• Promptly filing claims reports.
•  Early assessment of functional abilities with a 

comprehensive rehabilitation plan.
•  Graduated/modified employer-sponsored return 

to work plan in place.

Claim duration/severity is particularly important, as a 
relatively small number of claims account for a very 
sizable portion of benefit costs.
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Inflation Rate
The inflation rate, or Canadian consumer price index 
(CPI), is a key driver because WorkSafeNB’s future 
short-term disability, long-term disability, survivor 
and other benefits and allowances are indexed 
annually based on the CPI.

Over the past 10 years, the rate used for the 
indexation of lost-time benefits has ranged from a 
low of 0.7% to a high of 2.5%, with the average rate 
being 1.6%.

Investment Returns
WorkSafeNB collects assessments to cover the 
entire present and future expected costs of injuries 
incurred in a given year. The assessments collected 
are invested to produce an expected long-term 
average real return of 3.75%. This real return is the 
expected return in excess of inflation, as measured 
by the increase in the CPI. This return expectation 
is based on achieving investment returns similar to 
the historical long-term average returns for the asset 
classes in which the portfolio is invested, with the 
exception of fixed income investments, which are 
expected to deliver lower returns than their recent 
historical average.

In 2019, markets experienced strong returns, with 
most asset classes providing significant positive 
returns. Some central banks cut interest rates in 2019 
in a move to combat global growth concerns in a 
low inflation environment. The U.S. Federal Reserve 
decreased rates on three occasions, while the Bank 
of Canada and Bank of England kept rates unchanged 
in 2019. In Canadian dollar terms, all equities, bonds 
and real estate provided very strong returns for the 
year. Infrastructure and the opportunistic mandate 
provided positive returns. 

All of the equity asset classes in WorkSafeNB’s 
portfolio were strong performers in 2019. The 
strongest returns were delivered by U.S equities 
(S&P 500 index), which gained 24.8% in Canadian 
dollar terms. Canadian equities (S&P TSX) provided 
a return of 22.9% for the year. International equities 
(MSCI EAFE index) and emerging markets (MSCI EM 
index) returned 15.9% and 12.9%, respectively, both in 
Canadian dollar terms. 

Canadian bonds, as represented by the FTSE TMX 
Universe Bond Index, gained 6.9% for the year. 
Long bonds, represented by the FTSE TMX Long 
Overall Bond Index, gained 12.7%, and real return 
bonds, represented by the FTSE TMX Real Return 
Bond Index, gained 8.0%. Canadian real estate had 
a reasonable year overall, with the REALpac/IPD 
Canada All Property Index returning 6.4%.

WorkSafeNB’s total investment portfolio earned a 
return of 14.0% in 2019. Inflation for the same period 
has averaged 2.2%, resulting in a real return of 11.8% 
for the period. This outperformed the expected real 
return objective by 8.0%. WorkSafeNB’s investment 
return for the 25 years ended December 31, 2019 
has averaged 7.5%. Inflation for the same period has 
averaged 1.9%, resulting in an average real return of 
6.7% for the period. This exceeds the expected real 
return objective by 1.9%.

While the expected average real return is 3.75% over 
long periods, the actual real rate of return can vary 
significantly over shorter periods due to short-term 
volatility in the financial markets where WorkSafeNB’s 
portfolio is invested. The long-term fiscal strategy 
and investment policies document WorkSafeNB’s 
strategy for maintaining investment and funding 
discipline in volatile markets. Based on the market 
value of the investment portfolio at December 31, 
2019, each one percent of annual investment return 
over or under the expected return of CPI plus 3.75% 
translates to an excess or shortfall of approximately 
$15.2 million.
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RISKS

WorkSafeNB plays an important role in the New 
Brunswick economy. Our 2019-2021 strategic plan  
is based on core pillars that together form the 
foundation of our work moving forward to ensure 
the sustainability of the workers’ compensation 
system for years to come. The plan demonstrates 
how we will provide public value by driving a safety-
first culture, achieving effective recovery, protecting 
system sustainability, and building a workplace that 
is committed to superior service. There are many 
opportunities for growth and innovation within 
each of these focus areas. We are committed to 
undertaking this transformation of WorkSafeNB and 
to being responsive and nimble when external factors 
require us to adjust our course.

LOOKING AHEAD

Business Outlook
WorkSafeNB’s disciplined approach to managing 
its business continues to be critical, given current 
economic uncertainties. 

The World Health Organization (WHO) officially 
declared COVID-19 (the disease caused by a 
novel coronavirus) a pandemic on March 11, 2020. 
Management is closely monitoring the evolution 
of this pandemic, including how it may affect 
WorkSafeNB, the economy and our stakeholders. The 
extent of the impact of COVID-19 on WorkSafeNB’s 
operational and financial performance will depend on 
future developments, including the duration, spread 
of the outbreak and restrictions that are mandated.

WorkSafeNB has operationalized its pandemic plan 
and has transitioned employees to work from home, 
while ensuring continuity of service to injured workers 
and employers. Although these are unprecedented 
and uncertain times, WorkSafeNB is committed to 
moving our business transformation efforts forward. 
Transforming the organization is about raising the 
bar to our new best. It’s about embracing change, 
serving our clients in ways that meet their needs, 
and leveraging technology to enable our success. 
And it’s about everyone working together to create 
a workplace culture that supports the WorkSafeNB 
of the future. Under the transformation program, to 
start in 2020, we are launching three programs that 
fall under transformation and are supported by our 
strategic pillars:

• Enterprise Experience
• Client Experience
• Employee Experience
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These three programs and the associated deliverables 
will provide opportunities to improve outcomes 
across the organization and enable us to better meet 
the expectations of our stakeholders. 

In 2019, several important pieces of legislation were 
enacted. As we move forward, we will focus on 
implementing these changes and leveraging the new 
elements to improve our return to work outcomes by 
working with employers, the medical community and 
workers, and fostering a stronger health and safety 
culture in New Brunswick. 

Financial Management
Capital markets remain uncertain and it is critical for 
WorkSafeNB to maintain a disciplined planning and 
decision-making process to protect the Accident 
Fund’s integrity and stability. WorkSafeNB is a long-
term investor. This allows for patience and the ability 
to stay committed to proven investment principles 
and beliefs.

Summary
To accomplish the ambitious transformation of 
WorkSafeNB underway, we know we must work 
closer than ever with our stakeholders and actively 
seek out new partnerships, while finding creative and 
innovative ways to better perform our work. 

We encourage you to participate in our consultations 
and stay connected throughout this journey as we 
build a healthier and safer province and a stronger, 
sustainable and accessible workers’ compensation 
system. 

WorkSafeNB will continue to be a steadfast champion 
for our workers and our employers, working with 
partners to continuously look for ways to minimize 
the impact of workplace illness and injury while 
contributing to our province’s prosperity.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY  
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

WorkSafeNB’s consolidated financial statements were prepared by management, which is responsible for 
the integrity and fairness of the data presented, including significant accounting judgments, estimates and 
actuarial assumptions. This responsibility includes selecting and applying appropriate accounting principles 
and actuarial assumptions consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards.

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, 
management maintains the internal controls necessary to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and 
reliable financial information is produced, and that assets are properly safeguarded. The Internal Audit 
Department conducts reviews to ensure that WorkSafeNB’s internal controls and procedures are adequate, 
consistent, and applied uniformly.

The board of directors is responsible for evaluating management in the performance of financial reporting 
responsibilities, and has approved the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. The 
board of directors is assisted by the Audit Committee, which reviews and recommends approval of the 
consolidated financial statements and meets periodically with management, the independent actuaries, the 
independent auditors and the internal auditor, concerning internal controls and all other matters relating to 
financial reporting.

Morneau Shepell, WorkSafeNB’s independent consulting actuary, has completed an actuarial valuation of 
the benefits liabilities included in WorkSafeNB’s consolidated financial statements and reported thereon in 
accordance with accepted actuarial principles.

Grant Thornton, WorkSafeNB’s independent auditors, has performed an audit of WorkSafeNB’s consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Independent 
Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of this independent audit and includes the opinion expressed on the 
consolidated financial statements.

Doug Jones 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
WorkSafeNB

Perry Cheeks, CPA, CMA
Chief Financial Officer
WorkSafeNB
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ACTUARIAL STATEMENT OF OPINION

I have completed the actuarial valuation of the benefit liabilities of WorkSafeNB as at December 31, 2019 (the 
“valuation date”). Details of the data, actuarial assumptions, valuation methods and results are included in the 
actuarial valuation report as at the valuation date, of which this statement of opinion forms part.

1.  The data on which the valuation is based were provided by WorkSafeNB. We applied such checks of 
reasonableness of the data as we considered appropriate. The data on which the valuation is based are 
sufficient and reliable for the purpose of the valuation.

2.  The economic assumptions are consistent with WorkSafeNB’s long-term fiscal strategy and 
investment policies. The discount rates used are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. 
The actuarial assumptions adopted in computing the liabilities are adequate and appropriate for the 
purpose of the valuation.

3.  The methods used are appropriate for the purpose of the valuation and are in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice for workers’ compensation organizations in Canada.

4.  The estimate of the actuarial liabilities as at the valuation date is $1,489,362,000 for assessed employers. 
This includes provisions for benefits and future administrative expenses expected to be paid after the 
valuation date for claims that occurred on or before the valuation date. It also includes a provision for 
potential long latency occupational disease claims associated with exposure that occurred on or before 
the valuation date.

5.  In addition to the liabilities for assessed employers, WorkSafeNB holds an amount of $15,778,000 invested 
in the Accident Fund for accrued annuities of injured workers of self-insured employers.

6.  The liability as at the valuation date for pension contributions and accumulated interest already set aside 
by WorkSafeNB up to the valuation date for purposes of providing pension benefits at age 65 to injured 
workers and dependent spouses of deceased workers is included in the above figures and was obtained 
from WorkSafeNB’s Chief Financial Office staff.

7.  The amount of the actuarial liabilities makes appropriate provision for all personal injury compensation 
obligations, and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation.

8.  This report has been prepared, and my opinions given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice 
in Canada.

9.  The valuation is based on the provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act of New Brunswick and on 
WorkSafeNB’s policies and practices in effect on the valuation date. Only benefits covered by the  
Workers’ Compensation Act are included in this valuation.

This report has been peer reviewed by Mark Simpson, F.C.I.A.

Thane MacKay, F.C.I.A. Conrad Ferguson, F.C.I.A. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors

WORKSAFENB 

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation 
Commission of New Brunswick (operating as WorkSafeNB), which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated statement of operations, consolidated statement of 
changes in fund balances and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of WorkSafeNB as at December 31, 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of WorkSafeNB in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matters – Restated Comparative Information 
We draw attention to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, which explains that certain 
comparative information presented for the year ended December 31, 2018 has been restated. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter. As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2019, we also audited the adjustments that were applied to restate certain 
comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2018. In our opinion, such adjustments are 
appropriate and have been properly applied. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing WorkSafeNB’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate WorkSafeNB or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing WorkSafeNB’s financial reporting process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of WorkSafeNB’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on WorkSafeNB’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause WorkSafeNB to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

Grant Thornton LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants

Saint John, Canada 
June 25, 2020
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

  (Restated) (Restated)

 2019 2018 Jan 1, 2018

 (000s) (000s) (000s)

         (Note 22)  (Note 22)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5)   $ 78,234 $ 65,916 $ 72,634

Receivables and other (Note 6)    19,086  17,978  15,007

Investments (Notes 7 and 8)    1,521,714  1,294,663  1,356,440

Capital assets (Note 9)    10,667  10,076  11,046

      $ 1,629,701 $ 1,388,633 $ 1,455,127

LIABILITIES AND FUNDED POSITION

Payables and accruals (Note 10)   $ 19,432 $ 16,168 $ 16,372

Benefits liabilities (Notes 3, 4 and 11)    1,505,140  1,576,330  1,375,843

 Total liabilities    1,524,572  1,592,498  1,392,215

WorkSafeNB funded position    77,657  (234,070)  37,465

Non-controlling interests (Note 2)    27,472  30,205  25,447

       105,129  (203,865)  62,912

      $ 1,629,701 $ 1,388,633 $ 1,455,127

On behalf of the board of directors:

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

James E. A. Stanley
Audit Committee, Board of Directors

Tina Soucy
Audit Committee, Board of Directors

Mel Norton
Chairperson, Board of Directors
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

       (Restated)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

       (Note 22)

REVENUE

 Assessment revenue (Note 12) $ 272,559 $ 174,234

 Investment income (Note 7)  184,160  (17,638)

     456,719  156,596

EXPENSES

 Claims costs incurred (Note 11)

   Benefit payments  157,900  167,265

   Changes in actuarial valuation of benefit liabilities  (71,190)  200,487

  Total claims costs incurred  86,710  367,752

 Administration (Note 14)  53,687  52,450

 Legislative obligations (Note 15)  3,453  3,461

     57,140  55,911

 Total expenses  143,850  423,663

Net income (loss) for the year $ 312,869 $ (267,067)

Net income (loss) for the year attributable to:   

 WorkSafeNB  311,727  (271,535)

 Non-controlling interests (Note 2)  1,142  4,468

    $ 312,869 $ (267,067)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDED POSITION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

      Non-controlling   2019  2018

     WorkSafeNB  interests  Total  Total

 (000s) (000s) (000s) (000s)

Funded position, beginning of year $ (234,070) $ 30,205 $ (203,865) $ 62,912

Capital contributions by non- 

controlling interests  –  1,766  1,766  515

Distributions to non-controlling  

interests  –  (5,641)  (5,641)  (225)

Net income (loss) for the year  311,727  1,142  312,869  (267,067)

Funded position, end of year $ 77,657 $ 27,472 $ 105,129 $ (203,865)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

       (Restated)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Cash flow from operating activities    (Note 22)

 Cash received from:   

  Assessed employers $ 271,420 $ 170,382

  Interest and dividends  37,446  35,479

     308,866  205,861

 Cash paid to:

  Injured workers or third parties on their behalf (Note 11)  157,900  167,265

  Suppliers and employees, for administration and other services  59,374  59,549

     217,274  226,814

 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  91,592  (20,953)

Cash flow from investing activities

 Cash received from:   

  Sale of investments  147,367  204,248

  Contributions by non-controlling interests   2,022  515

     149,389  204,763

 Cash paid for:

  Purchase of investments   220,483  188,415

  Purchase of capital assets  1,413  1,888

  Distributions to non-controlling interests   5,852  225

     227,748  190,528

 Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities  (78,359)  14,235

Cash flow from financing activities

 Repayment of lease liabilities  915  –

Net cash used in financing activities  (915)  –

Increase (decrease) in cash during the year  12,318  (6,718)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  65,916  72,634

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 78,234 $ 65,916

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1. AUTHORITY AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation Commission (operating as WorkSafeNB) was established by the New 
Brunswick Legislature effective January 1, 1995, under the Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation Commission 
Act (WHSCC Act). WorkSafeNB, having its head office at 1 Portland Street, Saint John, New Brunswick, is responsible for 
administering the Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation Commission and Workers’ Compensation Appeals Tribunal Act 
(WHSCC & WCAT Act), the Workers’ Compensation Act (WC Act), and the Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHS Act); and, in 
accordance with the provisions of these acts, for promoting accident prevention; administering benefits payments to injured 
workers and surviving spouses; and levying and collecting employer assessments sufficient to fund the current and future 
costs of existing claims.

WorkSafeNB is also responsible for administering the Firefighters’ Compensation Act (FC Act) and, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act, for administering the payment of benefits to firefighters or former firefighters and dependants, and 
levying and collecting assessments from municipalities, rural communities and local service districts. The results of operations 
under the FC Act are not included in WorkSafeNB’s consolidated financial statements, as WorkSafeNB does not control the FC 
Act Disability Fund. A separate set of financial statements is prepared for the FC Act. 

WorkSafeNB’s consolidated financial statements will be authorized for issue subject to a resolution of the board of directors 
on June 25, 2020.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 and the comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Accounting policies are selected and applied to ensure that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of 
relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

(a) Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) in effect at 
December 31, 2019 and are presented in thousands (000s) of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated.

WorkSafeNB’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for investments, which 
are measured at fair value and benefits liabilities, which are discounted to present value based on the assumptions detailed in 
Note 3.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WorkSafeNB and WorkSafeNB Investments Limited (WSNBIL). 
WSNBIL is a subsidiary over which WorkSafeNB exercises control, which is defined as having the power to direct the 
relevant activities of an entity, having exposure or rights to variable returns of the entity, and having the ability to affect the 
returns through the power it holds. WSNBIL holds infrastructure and real estate assets in trust for WorkSafeNB, the Workers 
Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island (WCB of PEI) and the FC Act Disability Fund. The proportionate ownership of 
the net assets as at December 31, 2019 was: WorkSafeNB – 85.66%, WCB of PEI – 12.84%, FC Act Disability Fund – 1.50%. All 
transactions and balances between WorkSafeNB and WSNBIL are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of WSNBIL’s net assets that are held by the WCB of 
PEI and the FC Act Disability Fund.

(c) Current and Future Accounting Policy Adjustments
The International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) is continually working toward improving and developing new 
accounting standards. The IASB has issued a number of exposure drafts of new standards that are expected to come into 
effect over the next several years. WorkSafeNB continually monitors the IASB work plans and publications to assess any 
potential impact on the organization. Notable accounting standard developments that may impact WorkSafeNB in the future 
are as follows:

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments – The standard introduces new requirements to classify and measure financial assets, as 
well as a new expected credit loss model to recognize and measure impairment on all financial instruments. WorkSafeNB has 
invoked the temporary exemption option for the implementation of IFRS 9 and will implement the standard in conjunction 
with IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts. WorkSafeNB qualifies for the temporary exemption due to operations that consist 
primarily of insurance activities and the insurance liabilities are in excess of 90% of WorkSafeNB’s total liabilities.

IFRS 16 – Leases – Effective January 1, 2019, WorkSafeNB adopted IFRS 16 – Leases. The standard requires that all leases, with 
the exception of low dollar value and short-term leases be recognized as assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. Under 
the standard, a lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset, which represents its right to use the underlying asset 
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. WorkSafeNB determined that the standard applied 
to its office space leases and applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. There was no material impact to 
WorkSafeNB’s financial results.

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts – This standard will replace IFRS 4 and is effective for reporting periods on or after January 
1, 2023. This standard will have a material impact on WorkSafeNB’s financial reporting though the introduction of new 
measurement and recognition approaches for insurance revenue and liabilities. WorkSafeNB is assessing the financial 
statement impact of IFRS 17 internally and through collaboration with auditors, actuaries and other Canadian workers’ 
compensation boards and commissions. WorkSafeNB is unable to make a determination of its full impact at this time.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES (CONTINUED)

(d) Use of accounting estimates and measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying WorkSafeNB’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, have been disclosed in Notes 2 and 3. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results could be higher or lower than these estimates.

(e) Critical accounting judgments
Management incorporates critical judgments in developing and applying accounting policies for recognition and 
measurement. These judgments have a direct effect on the initial and subsequent recognition and measurement of 
transactions and balances in the consolidated financial statements. Management has based its judgments and assumptions 
on information available at the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at fair value and consist of cash and fixed income instruments with maturities of less 
than one year.

(g) Assessment revenue
Assessment revenue is calculated on actual or estimated payrolls as reported by the employer, or on arbitrary assessments 
as determined by WorkSafeNB. Separate assessment rates are established for each industry classification. An allowance for 
doubtful accounts is provided for assessments receivable based on management’s best estimate.

A portion of assessment revenue for the year is not billed or received until after year-end. The receivable is determined 
based on amounts billed and received subsequent to year-end. Any difference between unbilled assessments and the actual 
assessments received is credited or charged to revenue in the following year.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES (CONTINUED)

(h) Investments
All portfolio investments, except forward foreign exchange contracts, are designated by WorkSafeNB as financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition, and are recorded at fair value. Forward foreign exchange contracts are 
classified as held-for-trading and are recorded at fair value. Interest and dividend income and realized gains and losses on all 
portfolio investments are included in investment income. Interest and dividend income is recognized in the period earned 
and realized gains and losses are recognized in the period in which they arise. Unrealized gains and losses are included 
in investment income and recognized in the period in which they arise. All purchases and sales of securities classified as 
portfolio investments are recognized using trade-date accounting.

All portfolio investments, except forward foreign exchange contracts, are designated by WorkSafeNB as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss on initial recognition because the portfolio is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis, in accordance with the policies and directives that document WorkSafeNB’s investment strategy and risk controls. 
The portfolio investments are held to provide for the benefits liabilities. The most relevant measure to assess whether the 
investments are sufficient to pay for the liabilities is fair value. As the portfolio investments are a key part of WorkSafeNB’s 
ongoing insurance operations, the interest and dividend income and the realized and unrealized gains and losses on the 
portfolio investments are recognized in income from operations.

Fair values of investments are determined as follows:
•  Publicly traded equity securities are valued at their year-end quoted market prices as reported on recognized public 

securities exchanges.
•  Fixed-term investments are valued at their year-end closing market prices or the average of the latest bid/ask prices, 

based on available public quotations from recognized dealers in such securities.
•  Commercial paper, short-term notes and treasury bills and term deposits maturing within a year are valued at either their 

year-end closing or bid price, based on available quotations from recognized dealers in such securities, or at cost plus 
accrued interest, which approximates fair value.

•  Pooled fund units are valued at their year-end net asset value, as determined by the fund manager or administrator. 
For pooled funds holding equity and fixed-income assets, these values represent WorkSafeNB’s proportionate share of 
underlying net assets at fair values determined using either quoted market prices or year-end closing market prices or 
the average of the latest bid/ask prices, based on available public quotations from recognized dealers in such securities. 
For pooled funds holding derivatives, cleared derivatives are valued at the closing price quoted by the relevant clearing 
house, and over-the-counter derivatives are valued using an industry standard model. Exchange-traded options are 
valued at the last sale price or the closing bid price for long positions and the closing ask price for short positions. For real 
estate pooled funds classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, these values represent WorkSafeNB’s proportionate 
share of the underlying net assets at fair values determined using independent appraisals, net of any liabilities against the 
fund assets. For infrastructure pooled funds and real estate pooled funds classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, 
these values represent WorkSafeNB’s proportionate share of the underlying net assets at fair values estimated using 
one or more methodologies, including discounted cash flows, multiples of earnings measures, and recent comparable 
transactions. In the first year of ownership, cost is considered to be an appropriate estimate of fair value.

•  Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at their net unrealized gain or loss, based on quoted market exchange 
rates at the balance sheet date.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES (CONTINUED)

(i) Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of receivables and payables approximates their fair value because of the short-term nature of these 
instruments.

(j) Foreign currencies
Assets denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Income from these assets is translated at the rate in effect at the time the income is received. Realized exchange 
gains or losses are included in investment income and recognized in the period earned. Unrealized exchange gains or losses 
resulting from the translation of foreign currency denominated asset balances are recorded in investment income in the 
period in which they arise.

(k) Benefits liabilities
Benefits liabilities represent the actuarial present value of all future benefits payments expected to be made for claims that 
occurred in the current fiscal year or in any prior year. The benefits liabilities include provision for all benefits provided by 
current legislation, policies and administrative practices of existing claims. Benefits liabilities also include the estimated 
liability for latent occupational disease and a provision for future administration costs of existing claims. Due to the nature 
of the estimated liability for latent occupational disease and the extent of related historical claims information available, this 
liability is more uncertain by its nature than other benefits liabilities. As information is accumulated and analyzed, adjustments 
may be necessary to improve precision. The benefit liability calculations are completed by WorkSafeNB’s internal actuarial 
staff, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries. 

It is WorkSafeNB’s practice to have an independent consulting actuary complete a valuation of the benefits liabilities of 
WorkSafeNB every year. Actual future costs could be higher or lower than those amounts presented in the consolidated 
financial statements.

A variety of estimation techniques are used to perform the valuation. They are generally based on statistical analyses of 
historical experience that assume that the development pattern of the current claims will be consistent with past experience. 

To the extent possible, and when deemed more appropriate, valuation on an individual claim basis is used. More general 
techniques are used to estimate outstanding awards. Allowance is made, however, for changes or uncertainties that may 
create distortions in the underlying statistics or that might cause the cost of claims to increase or reduce when compared with 
the cost of previously settled claims including, but not limited to:

• Changes in WorkSafeNB processes that might accelerate or slow down the development and/or recording of claims.
• Changes in WorkSafeNB policies that might affect benefits.
• Changes in the legal environment.
• Medical and technological developments.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES (CONTINUED)

Multiple techniques are adopted to estimate the required level of provisions. This helps to better align the trends inherent in 
the data being projected to the benefit type being valued. The most appropriate estimation technique is selected taking into 
account the characteristics of the benefit type and the extent of the development of each accident year. Details of specific 
assumptions used in deriving the outstanding claims liability at year-end are detailed in Note 3.

(l) Leases
For any new contracts entered into on or after January 1, 2019, WorkSafeNB determines whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.” Upon determination that a contract is, or contains, a lease, WorkSafeNB recognizes a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability. Upon the start of the lease, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost and the lease liability is 
measured at the present value of the future lease payments. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis to 
the earlier of the term of the lease or the useful life of the right-to-use asset. The lease liability is reduced over the lease term 
by payments made and increased for interest. Short-term leases (terms of 12 months or less) and low dollar value leases do 
not qualify for this accounting treatment. 

(m) Capital assets
Capital assets are reported at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The rates used 
are as follows:
 
 Buildings 25 years
 Right-of-use assets Remaining term of relevant lease
 Furniture and equipment 5 years
 Leasehold improvements Remaining term of relevant lease
 Computer software and hardware 3 years
 Motor vehicles 3 years, 35% residual value

The assets’ residual values are reviewed each balance sheet date and adjusted, if appropriate. Gains and losses on disposal are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount, and are included in investment income.

As at December 31, 2019, items of property, plant and equipment were assessed for specific indicators of potential 
impairment. Such indicators include technological obsolescence and physical deterioration or loss. Management determined 
that there was no material impairment of individual operating assets.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRACTICES (CONTINUED)

(n) Post-employment benefits
Payables and accruals include an amount for post-employment benefits based on a January 1, 2020 actuarial valuation 
conducted by WorkSafeNB’s independent consulting actuary. Post-employment benefits include retirement allowances and 
early retirement programs.

(o) WorkSafeNB’s Rehabilitation Centre
Included in health care payments is $7.3 million (2018 – $6.8 million) for services provided by WorkSafeNB’s Rehabilitation 
Centre.

(p) Impairment review
Entity Level
IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) requires an entity to test assets for impairment if indicators of impairment exist. The impairment 
review must be conducted for an individual asset, an asset group, or the cash-generating unit level, which is the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows independent of cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Based on an analysis of cash flows, WorkSafeNB has established that the appropriate cash-generating unit for impairment 
review is the entity. As WorkSafeNB has statutory power under the WC Act to increase assessments and/or impose levies to 
ensure full funding into the foreseeable future, impairment at the entity level is remote. WorkSafeNB conducts an annual 
review to ensure that no events or change in circumstances have occurred that would provide evidence of impairment.

As at December 31, 2019, management concluded that there were no known significant changes in the legislative, economic 
or business environment that would have a material impact on WorkSafeNB’s ability to generate future economic benefits 
from its operating assets.

(q) Funding policy
In 2019, WorkSafeNB’s funding policy was updated to include a new funding goal (ratio of assets to liabilities) of between 
115% and 125% (formerly 110%). This permitted excess of assets over liabilities reduces the impact of year-to-year fluctuations, 
therefore providing assessment rate stabilization and enhanced security that awarded benefits will be met. The assessment 
revenue raised in any year from assessed employers may include or be reduced by an amount designed to allow WorkSafeNB 
to attain its funding goal. WorkSafeNB’s funded ratio at December 31, 2019 is 105.1% (2018 – 85.3%). Under the WC Act, a 
minimum funding level of 100% is required, with any shortfall to be recovered within a reasonable and prudent period not 
greater than 15 years.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

3. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS

Significant estimates and judgments are made on outstanding benefits liabilities disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements and the discount rates used to calculate the present value of future benefit payments. These estimates and 
judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience, as well as enhancements to actuarial modeling 
techniques. The following explicit assumptions have been made in determining the outstanding benefits liabilities:

 2019 2018

     Medical Other  Medical Other
     payments payments  payments payments
    CPI- (duration (duration CPI- (duration (duration
    indexed  16 and 16 and indexed  16 and 16 and
    awards over) over) awards over) over)

Gross rate of return 6.08% 6.08% 6.08% 6.08% 6.08% 6.08%

Inflation 

 – Year 1 2.12% 5.25% 3.25% 1.88% 5.25% 3.25%

 – subsequent years 2.25% 5.25% 3.25% 2.25% 5.25% 3.25%

Net rate of return 

 – Year 1 3.88% 0.79% 2.75% 4.13% 0.79% 2.75%

 – subsequent years 3.75% 0.79% 2.75% 3.75% 0.79% 2.75%

Future administration 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50% 6.50%

Occupational disease 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

A description of the processes used to determine these assumptions is provided below:

General statement
Assumptions are formulated to be consistent with the funding and investment policies adopted by the board. Benefits 
liabilities are valued based on the primary assumption that the system will be in operation for the long term. Hence, the focus 
is on long-term trends as opposed to short-term fluctuations around those trends.

Gross rate of return 
The gross rate of return reflects the best estimate of the long-term average rate of return that can be expected using the 
benchmark asset allocation adopted by the board in its statement of investment goals and objectives. An estimate of a real 
rate of return, based on the analysis of multiple possible scenarios, is then compounded with the long-term average future 
inflation estimate to obtain the gross rate of return.

CPI-indexed awards inflation rate
The indexation rate in year one for short-term disability, long-term disability, pensions and survivor awards is known when the 
valuation is made. This calculation of the indexation rate is specified under the WC Act and the calculation for the following 
calendar year is made before year-end. For the first 15 years of the projection for short-term disability and seven years of 
the projection for long-term disability awards, the inflation rate is assumed to be the same as is implied in the development 
factors derived from past payment history. For subsequent durations, the inflation rate was determined from an analysis of 
past experience over periods of 20 and 30 years. This analysis is done annually to ensure the inflation assumption remains 
current. The latest analysis produced an annual inflation rate of 2.25%.
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Medical payments inflation rate
For the first 15 years of the projection, the inflation rate is assumed to be the same as is implied in the development factors 
derived from past payment history. For duration 16 and over, the inflation rate was determined from a study of past payment 
experience. The study is periodically updated to ensure the inflation assumption remains current. An analysis, conducted in 
2015, resulted in an annual inflation rate that was 3.0% above the long-term inflation assumption used for CPI.

Other payments inflation rate
For the first 15 years of the projection, the inflation rate is assumed to be the same as is implied in the development factors 
derived from past payment history. For duration 16 and over, the inflation rate was determined from a study of past payment 
experience. The study is periodically updated to ensure the inflation assumption remains current. An analysis, conducted in 
2015, resulted in an annual inflation rate that was 1.0% above the long-term inflation assumption used for CPI.

CPI-indexed awards net rate of return 
A net rate of return is not calculated for the first 15 years following injury for short-term disability and the first seven years 
following injury for long-term disability awards, as there is no explicit inflation assumption. The net rate of return for other 
CPI-indexed benefit types and other durations is the net result from removing the inflation component of the gross rate of 
return from the gross rate of return on a compounded basis.

Medical payments net rate of return
A net rate of return is not calculated for the first 15 years following injury, as there is no explicit inflation assumption. The net 
rate of return is the net result from removing the inflation component of the gross rate of return from the gross rate of return 
on a compounded basis.

Other payments net rate of return
A net rate of return is not calculated for the first 15 years following injury, as there is no explicit inflation assumption. The net 
rate of return is the net result from removing the inflation component of the gross rate of return from the gross rate of return 
on a compounded basis.

Future administration
When a claim occurs, it triggers an obligation to provide claims management, maintenance and support in terms of paying 
the various providers of health care services and compensating workers for lost wages for as long as the claim is open. The 
future administration expense liability is intended to provide a reasonable allowance for this obligation.

A detailed review of future administration expenses is conducted periodically. In this review, an estimate is made of the 
portion of operating expenses that can be attributed to claims maintenance, including a proportionate share of overhead 
expenses. The latest review, conducted in 2008, concluded that a 6.5% allocation was reasonable. Therefore, a liability for 
future administration expenses of 6.5% of the total benefits liability is included in the liability estimate. The next review is 
scheduled for 2020.
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Occupational disease
Occupational diseases differ from occupational injuries in that there can be a considerable time lag between the exposure, 
the manifestation of the disease and the identification of the ensuing disability as a workers’ compensation claim. 
Furthermore, while the circumstances of an injury usually make it clear whether it is work-related or not, the link between an 
occupational disease and the workplace may be difficult to establish.

A detailed review of long-latency occupational disease incidence and costs is conducted periodically. The review provides a 
range of potential incidence and cost, based on past experience. The study includes allowance for changes in industry make-
up since the experience has developed and improvements have been made in the prevention of diseases known to be work-
related. The latest review, conducted in 2015, concluded that a 6.0% allocation was reasonable. This provision is deemed to 
include an allowance for administration expenses on these claims. Therefore, a liability for occupational disease of 6.0% of 
the total benefits liability is included in the liability estimate.

Sensitivity analysis 
i) Summary
Sensitivity analyses are conducted to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables. The valuations 
included in the reported results are calculated using certain assumptions about these variables as disclosed above. The 
movement in any key variable will impact WorkSafeNB’s financial performance and funding ratio. 

Impact of movement in variable:

Gross rate of return
The outstanding claims liability is calculated by reference to expected future payments. These payments are discounted to 
adjust for the time value of money. An increase or decrease in the assumed discount rate will have an opposing impact on 
claims costs.

Long-term general inflation rate
The CPI-indexed awards inflation rate, medical payments inflation rate, and other payments inflation rate are all directly 
affected by movements in the long-term general inflation rate. Consequently, the benefits indexed to these rates are also 
affected. An increase or decrease in the long-term general inflation rate would have a corresponding impact on claims costs.

Medical inflation rate
Medical expenses more than 15 years after the injury account for a major part of expected benefit payments at long durations. 
An increase or decrease in medical payment inflation relative to the assumption underlying the liability estimates would have 
a corresponding impact on claims costs.
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The table below presents the sensitivity of the benefits liabilities to an immediate 1% increase or decrease in the assumed 
rates.

ii) Impact of changes in key variables:

 2019 2018

 (000s) (000s)

+/-% change in assumed rates +1.00% -1.00% +1.00% -1.00%

Gross rate of return $  (104,636) $  126,486 $  (104,581) $  125,936

Long-term general inflation rate 108,101 (88,458) 107,295 (88,219)

Medical inflation rate 62,794 (48,712) 62,875 (49,019)

    
4. CLAIMS – RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

WorkSafeNB’s financial condition and operation is affected by a number of key risks, including claims, operational and 
financial risks. WorkSafeNB has established policies and procedures to manage these risks as set out below.

(a) Claims risk
WorkSafeNB has an objective to manage claims risk, thus reducing the volatility of assessment premiums and performance 
from operations. In addition to the inherent uncertainty of claims risk can lead to significant variability in the loss experience, 
performance from operations are significantly affected by market factors external to WorkSafeNB.

WorkSafeNB has developed, implemented and maintained a sound and prudent claims risk management strategy that 
encompasses all aspects of WorkSafeNB’s operations.

The strategy sets out WorkSafeNB’s policies and procedures, processes and controls in relation to the management of likely 
financial and non-financial claims risks.

Key aspects of the processes in place to mitigate claims risks include:
• Established processes for managing claims in accordance with the WHSCC & WCAT Act and the WC Act.
• A disciplined strategic planning and risk assessment process.
•  A tracking system that requires the costing of any benefit changes from changes in policy, legislation and appeals 

decisions.
• Targeted programs for high-risk industries.
•  The use of sophisticated management information systems that provide reliable and up-to-date data on the claims risks 

to which the business is exposed at any time.
•  The use of detailed internal monitoring tools that link actuarial valuation projections with the management information 

systems to monitor claims patterns.
• Annual review of the benefits liability by an independent external actuary.
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(b) Terms and conditions of the workers’ compensation system
The terms and conditions of the workers’ compensation system administered by WorkSafeNB are established under the 
WHSCC & WCAT Act. Coverage is for periods ending December 31 each year. The system’s terms and conditions are similar for 
all assessed employers.

(c) Operational risk
Operational risk relates to the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error or from other circumstances not related 
to claims or financial risks. These risks are managed through a framework that includes a system of delegated authorities, 
effective segregation of duties, access controls and review processes.

(d) Financial risk
WorkSafeNB is exposed to the following financial risks:

• Funding risk
• Market risk
• Foreign currency risk
• Credit risk
• Inflation risk
• Interest rate risk
• Liquidity risk

WorkSafeNB’s exposure to these risks arises primarily in relation to its investment portfolio. Note 8 presents information about 
WorkSafeNB’s exposure to each of the above risks, including objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing 
the risk.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Included in cash and cash equivalents is $12.5 million restricted for business transformation initiatives.

6. RECEIVABLES

       (Restated)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

       (Note 22)

Assessments billed $ 2,619  $ 1,919

Unbilled assessments  10,164  6,275

Self-insured employers – receivable  4,180  7,098

Other   2,123  2,686

   

    $ 19,086 $ 17,978
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The table below presents the fair value of WorkSafeNB’s investments.

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

     Fair Value  Fair Value

i) Portfolio investments     

Forward foreign exchange contracts $ 3,298 $ (15,531)

Fixed income

 Conventional bonds  244,290  202,213

Equities     

 Canadian  236,123  187,022

 U.S.   209,093  168,953

 Non-North American  277,676  232,626

 Total equities  722,892  588,601

Inflation-sensitive

 Real return bonds  47,035  42,733

 Real estate  240,360  225,475

 Infrastructure  111,483  110,145

 Total inflation-sensitive  398,878  378,353

Absolute return     

 Global opportunistic¹  152,356  141,027

    $ 1,521,714 $ 1,294,663

¹ The Global Opportunistic allocation is invested in a pooled fund that has the ability to invest in a wide variety of asset classes and strategies depending 
on the manager’s assessment of the attractiveness of the opportunity. As of December 31, 2019, the fund had the following allocations: North American 
equities 1% (2018 – 0%); Non-North American equities 49.0% (2018 – 36.7%); Fixed income 22.0% (2018 – 23.1%); Absolute return strategies 26.0% (2018 – 
32.2%); Cash 2.0% (2018 – 8.1%). 
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ii) Fair value hierarchy
WorkSafeNB’s investments have been classified into a three-level fair value hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 7 (Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures). The levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:
•  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 1 inputs are the most persuasive 

evidence of fair value and are used whenever possible.
•  Level 2 inputs are market-based inputs that are directly or indirectly observable but not considered Level 1 quoted 

prices. Level 2 inputs consist of: (i) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; (ii) quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in non-active markets (markets which have few transactions and prices are not current or 
price quotations vary substantially); (iii) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable (interest rates, yield curves, 
volatilities, credit risks, and default rates); and (iv) inputs derived from, or corroborated by, observable market data.

•  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs. These inputs reflect assumptions about market pricing using the best internal and 
external information available. The valuation approaches applied are the most suitable and appropriate for the type of 
investments.

In certain situations, inputs used to measure the fair value of asset positions fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
In these situations, the level in which the fair value falls is based upon the lowest level input that is significant to the 
determination of the fair value. As of December 31, 2019, the fair values of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis 
by level of input were as follows:
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    2019

        (000s)

Portfolio investments  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Fair Value

Forward foreign exchange contracts $ – $ 3,298 $ – $ 3,298

Fixed income

 Conventional bonds  244,290  –  –  244,290

Equities    

 Canadian  236,123  –  –  236,123

 U.S.   209,093  –  –  209,093

 Non-North American  277,676  –  –  277,676

 Total equities  722,892  –  –  722,892

Inflation-sensitive

 Real return bonds  47,035  –  –  47,035

 Real estate  161,896  –  78,464  240,360

 Infrastructure  –  –  111,483  111,483

 Total inflation-sensitive  208,931  –  189,947  398,878

Absolute return

 Global opportunistic  152,356  –  –  152,356

    $ 1,328,469 $ 3,298 $ 189,947 $ 1,521,714
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    2018

        (000s)

Portfolio investments  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Fair Value

Forward foreign exchange contracts $ – $ (15,531) $ – $ (15,531)

Fixed income 

 Conventional bonds  202,213  –  –  202,213

Equities

 Canadian  187,022  –  –  187,022

 U.S.   168,953  –  –  168,953

 Non-North American  232,626  –  –  232,626

 Total equities  588,601  –  –  588,601

Inflation-sensitive

 Real return bonds  42,733  –  –  42,733

 Real estate  146,875  –  78,600  225,475

 Infrastructure  –  –  110,145  110,145

 Total inflation-sensitive  189,608  –  188,745  378,353

Absolute return

 Global opportunistic  141,027  –  –  141,027

    $ 1,121,449 $ (15,531) $ 188,745 $ 1,294,663
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iii) Summary of changes in level 3 fair value measurements:

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Balance, beginning of year $ 188,745 $ 154,107

Purchases of level 3 investments  11,846  2,998

Sale of level 3 investments  (37,186)  (1,352)

Partnership distributions of operating income  2,824  3,237

Expenses  –  –

Realized gains  1,716  6,460

Change in unrealized gains recognized in investment income  22,002  23,295

  

Balance, end of year $ 189,947 $ 188,745

There are five investments classified as level 3: 

(1) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in global infrastructure assets with a market value of $55.9 million (2018 
– $57.4 million). This is a closed-end fund with no active market for its units and no published net asset value as of December 
31, 2019 and is therefore classified as a level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy. This fund has a 12-year life that began on 
October 30, 2013. The general partner has the option to extend the fund’s life by two years. 

(2) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in global infrastructure assets with a market value of $55.6 million (2018 – 
$51.2 million). This is an open-ended fund that allows quarterly redemptions at net asset value, but with some restrictions. It is 
classified as a level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy. 

(3) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in European real estate with a market value of $65.4 million (2018 – 
$75.4 million). This is a closed-end fund with no active market for its units and no published net asset value as of December 
31, 2019 and is therefore classified as a level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy. This fund has a 9-year life that began 
on August 22, 2014. 

(4) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in European real estate with a market value of $13.0 million (2018 – $(1.4) 
million). This is a closed-end fund with no active market for its units and no published net asset value as of December 31, 2019 
and is therefore classified as a level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy. This fund has a 10-year life that began on March 
29, 2018. 

(5) A limited partnership interest in a fund investing in global infrastructure assets with a market value of $0 (2018 – $0). This 
is a closed-end fund with no active market for its units and no published net asset value as of December 31, 2019 and is 
therefore classified as a level 3 investment in the fair value hierarchy. This fund has a 12-year life that began on May 10, 2019. 
The general partner has the option to extend the fund’s life by two years.
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iv) Investment income 

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Interest and dividends $ 36,159 $ 33,967

Realized investment gains (losses) on forward foreign exchange contracts  2,665  (5,630)

Realized investment gains on other portfolio investments  28,337  42,825

Change in unrealized investment gains on forward foreign exchange contracts  (18,686)  (21,455)

Change in unrealized investment gains on other portfolio investments  142,314  (60,972)

     190,789  (11,265)

Less: portfolio management expenses  (6,629)  (6,373)

    $ 184,160 $ (17,638)

The market rate of return on the investment portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2019 was 14.01% (negative -1.32%  
in 2018).

v) Pooled funds 
Certain of WorkSafeNB’s portfolio investments are held through pooled funds. The fair value of the investments held through 
pooled funds is as follows:

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Conventional bonds $ 244,247 $ 202,213

Real return bonds  47,035  42,733

Non-North American equities  59,178  52,450

Real estate  240,360  222,475

Infrastructure  111,483  110,145

Global opportunistic  152,356  141,027
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vi) Investment agreement 
WorkSafeNB has entered into an investment agreement for the combined administration and pooling of its investments 
and those of the Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island and the FC Act Disability Fund. These consolidated 
financial statements report WorkSafeNB’s proportional share of the investments held in the fund, except for the investment 
in WorkSafeNB Investments Limited, which is consolidated (see Note 2). WorkSafeNB’s proportional share of the pooled 
fund was 85.66% at December 31, 2019 (2018 – 84.05%). In 2019, WorkSafeNB received a fee of $2.1 thousand (2018 – $4.9 
thousand) for the administration of the Workers Compensation Board of Prince Edward Island’s share of the fund, and a fee of 
$17.1 thousand (2018 – 16.8 thousand) for the administration of the FC Act Disability Fund’s share of the fund.

vii) Commitments
Through its investment in WorkSafeNB Investments Limited, WorkSafeNB has entered into limited partnership agreements 
with externally managed infrastructure and real estate pooled funds that commit to contribute investments in these funds, 
which may be drawn down over the next year. Unfunded commitments as of December 31, 2019 are $122.4 million (2018 – 
$84.8 million).

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

WorkSafeNB has established policies to manage its investments. All of WorkSafeNB’s investments are managed by independent 
external investment managers. The compliance of these managers with the investment policies is monitored regularly.

WorkSafeNB manages investment risk by diversifying its portfolio among asset classes, industry sectors, geographic locations 
and individual securities. Further diversification is achieved by selecting investment managers with varying investment 
philosophies and styles. From time to time, WorkSafeNB retains independent consultants to advise on the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of its investment policies and practices. This includes periodic asset liability studies to ensure that the investment 
strategy is suitable in light of the related liabilities and WorkSafeNB’s risk tolerance. The last such study was completed in 2019.

The following sections describe WorkSafeNB’s financial risk exposures and related mitigation strategies.

i) Funding risk
WorkSafeNB’s funding policy specifies a funding goal (ratio of assets to liabilities) of between 110% and 125%. This permitted 
excess of assets over liabilities reduces the impact of year-to-year fluctuations, therefore providing assessment rate 
stabilization and enhanced security that awarded benefits will be met.

ii) Market risk
WorkSafeNB invests in publicly traded equities listed on domestic and foreign exchanges, bonds traded over the counter 
through broker-dealers, Canadian and foreign commercial real estate and global infrastructure assets held via pooled funds. 
These securities are affected by fluctuations in market prices. Such fluctuations are subject to economic factors and other 
fluctuations in domestic and global capital markets, as well as risks specific to issuers, which may affect the market value 
of individual securities. Policy guidelines have been established to ensure that WorkSafeNB’s investments are diversified by 
issuer, industry and geographic location.
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The table below presents the estimated effect of a reasonably possible1 adverse change in the key risk variable – the market 
benchmark – for each of the equity mandates in WorkSafeNB’s investment portfolio.

 2019 2018

 (000s) (000s)

     1 std dev  2 std dev  1 std dev  2 std dev

Canadian Equities

% change in market benchmark2  (9.5%)  (19.0%)  (10.7%)  (21.4%)

Canadian portfolio – impact on  

surplus/deficit $ (23,698) $ (47,692) $ (21,947) $ (44,266)

U.S. Equities

% change in market benchmark3  (9.8%)  (19.5%)  (10.7%)  (21.5%)

U.S. portfolio – impact on  

surplus/deficit $ (21,266) $ (42,549) $ (19,194) $ (38,422)

International (EAFE) Equities

% change in market benchmark4  (11.0%)  (22.0%)  (12.1%)  (24.2%)

International portfolio – impact  

on surplus/deficit $ (27,730) $ (55,353) $ (21,960) $ (43,644)

Emerging Markets Equities

% change in market benchmark5  (12.7%)  (25.4%)  (13.9%)  (27.7%)

Emerging markets portfolio – impact  

on surplus/deficit $  (12,884) $ (25,720) $ (12,361) $ (24,730)

1 Reasonably possible changes are estimated using the historical (10-year) variability of each of the market benchmarks about their respective means. 
The standard deviation measures the normal variance in a probability distribution. One standard deviation covers 68% of all probable outcomes and two 
standard deviations covers 95%.

2 S&P TSX (Standard & Poor’s Toronto Stock Exchange) Capped Composite Index

3 S&P (Standard & Poor’s) 500 Index

4 MSCI (Morgan Stanley Capital International) EAFE (Europe, Australasia and Far East) Total Return Index

5 MSCI EM (Emerging Markets) Total Return Index
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iii) Foreign currency risk
WorkSafeNB has certain investments denominated in foreign currencies. Currency risk is the risk that the value of these 
investments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. WorkSafeNB’s most significant currency exposure is to 
the U.S. dollar, the euro, the Japanese yen and the British pound. At December 31, 2019, WorkSafeNB had U.S. dollar exposure 
of $357.9 million (2018 – $304.3 million), euro exposure of $146.8 million (2018 – $124.4 million), Japanese yen exposure of 
$67.8 million (2018 – $53.4 million) and British pound exposure of $52.2 million (2018 – $52.2 million).

For its U.S. and non-North American assets, WorkSafeNB has adopted a policy to dynamically hedge a portion of its developed 
market foreign currency exposure using forward foreign exchange contracts. The amount hedged varies, depending on the 
relative attractiveness of the foreign currency. Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to exchange an amount of 
one currency for another at a future date and at a set price, agreed upon at the contract’s inception.

The fair value of these financial instruments will change in response to changes in the foreign exchange rates of the 
currencies involved in the contracts. The notional amounts in forward foreign exchange contracts are the contractual 
amounts on which payments are made. These notional amounts have been converted into Canadian dollars at the contractual 
exchange rates in effect at the inception of the contracts. Outstanding contracts from 2019 mature in the first 37 days of 
2020.

At December 31, 2019, the notional value of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts was $467.0 million (2018 – 
$370.2 million). The fair value of these contracts was an asset of $3.3 million (2018 – liability of $15.5 million). Unrealized gains 
on forward foreign exchange contracts were included in investment income.

The table below presents how the surplus/deficit would be affected by a reasonably possible annual change in the Canadian/
US dollar, Canadian/euro, Canadian/Japanese yen and Canadian/British pound exchange rates. The impact on the surplus/
deficit is shown net of the currency hedges in place at year-end:

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

15% appreciation in the Canadian dollar Impact on surplus/deficit Impact on surplus/deficit

CAD/USD $ (1,588) $ (5,521)

CAD/EURO  (7,778)  (5,455)

CAD/YEN  (8,042)  (6,300)

CAD/POUND  (5,572)  (6,145)
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iv) Credit risk
Credit risk on fixed-term or money market investments or forward foreign exchange contracts arises from the possibility 
that the counter party to an instrument fails to meet its obligation to WorkSafeNB. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
determined by the fair value of these financial instruments. Policy guidelines have been established to ensure WorkSafeNB 
holds fixed-term investments with a credit rating of BBB or higher. WorkSafeNB may only invest in money market instruments 
that are provincially or federally guaranteed or are guaranteed by one of the five largest Canadian chartered banks. Counter 
parties to forward foreign exchange contracts must have a credit rating of at least AA-.

The table below summarizes the fixed term investments by credit rating.

 2019 2018

      % of Total  % of Total

     Fair Value Fixed-Term Fair Value Fixed-Term

     (000s) Investments (000s) Investments

Credit Rating*

AAA   $ 130,585 44.83 $ 115,520 47.16

AA    99,174 34.05  82,267 33.59

A     61,486 21.11  47,159 19.25

BBB    37 0.01  – –

Total  $ 291,282 100.00 $ 244,946 100.00

* Credit ratings are obtained from Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s or DBRS ratings

v) Inflation risk 
Inflation risk is the risk that a general increase in price level may result in loss of future purchasing power for current monetary 
assets.

To mitigate the effect of inflation on WorkSafeNB’s future liabilities, the portfolio holds inflation-sensitive investments, such 
as real-return bonds, real estate and infrastructure. Canadian real-return bonds are indexed to the annual change in the 
Canadian consumer price index. The table included in the interest rate section below presents the remaining terms to maturity 
of the conventional and real-return bond portfolios.

vi) Interest rate risk 
Future changes in the prevailing level of interest rates will affect the fair value of the fixed-term investments. 
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The table below presents the remaining term to maturity of WorkSafeNB’s portion of the outstanding fixed-term investments, 
all of which are held in pooled funds.

  Remaining Term to Maturity (000s)

    Within Over 1 Year Over Total Total

    1 Year to 5 Years 5 Years 2019 2018

Canadian real return bonds  

(fair value) $ (101) $ 5,045 $ 42,091 $ 47,035 $ 42,733

Canadian conventional bonds  

(fair value)  (1,879)  68,690  177,436   244,247  202,213

    $ (1,980) $ 73,735 $ 219,527 $ 291,282 $ 244,946

The average effective real yield of the real return bonds is 0.44% (2018 – 0.79%) per annum based on market value. The 
average effective yield of the conventional bonds is 2.26% (2018 – 2.72%) per annum based on market value.

As of December 31, 2019, had the prevailing interest rate changed by 1%, assuming a parallel shift in the yield curve, with all 
other variables held constant, the value of the Canadian conventional bonds would have increased or decreased by $21.8 
million (2018 – $17.0 million), approximately 8.93% (2018 – 8.41%) of their fair value.

As of December 31, 2019, had the prevailing real interest rate changed by 1%, assuming a parallel shift in the yield curve, with 
all other variables held constant, the value of the Canadian real return bonds would have increased or decreased by $6.8 
million (2018 – $6.2 million), approximately 14.63% (2018 – 14.57%) of their fair value.

The sensitivity to interest rate changes was estimated using the weighted average duration of the bond portfolios.

vii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that WorkSafeNB will have difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash.

Through a proactive cash management process that entails continuous forecasting of expected cash flows,
WorkSafeNB mitigates liquidity risk by minimizing the need for forced liquidations of portfolio assets. WorkSafeNB investment 
policy maintains a 2% allocation to cash to help ensure adequate liquidity. To cover unanticipated cash requirements when 
market conditions are unfavourable, WorkSafeNB has negotiated a standby line of credit of up to $10 million, which has not 
been drawn down as at December 31, 2019.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

9. CAPITAL ASSETS

      Furniture and

     Computer equipment

     software including

    Land and and leasehold Motor 2019 2018

    buildings hardware improvements vehicles Total Total

    (000s) (000s) (000s) (000s) (000s) (000s)

Cost

Balance at January 1 $ 8,974 $ 18,447 $ 7,347 $ 559 $ 35,327 $ 33,582

Initial Recognition- 

Right-of-use asset   1,986  –  –  –  1,986  –

Additions  578  1,262  147  38  2,025  1,888

Disposals  –  (470)  –  (28)  (498)  (143)

Balance at  

December 31 $ 11,538 $ 19,239 $ 7,494 $ 569 $ 38,840 $ 35,327

Accumulated  

Depreciation

Balance at January 1 $ (2,749) $ (15,935) $ (6,291) $ (276) $ (25,251) $ (22,536)

Depreciation  (1,244)  (1,708)  (412)  (46)  (3,410)  (2,858)

Disposals  –  470   –  18  488  143

Balance at  

December 31 $ (3,993) $ (17,173) $ (6,703) $ (304) $ (28,173) $ (25,251)

Carrying amounts

At January 1 $ 6,225 $ 2,512 $ 1,056 $ 283 $ 10,076 $ 11,046

Initial Recognition- 

Right-of-use asset   1,986  –  –  –  1,986  –

Restated balance,  

January 1  8,211  –  –  –  12,062  –

At December 31 $ 7,545 $ 2,066 $ 791 $ 265 $ 10,667 $ 10,076
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

9. CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Land and Buildings include the following amounts where WorkSafeNB is a lessee: 

Finance leased assets

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Cost – capitalized finance leases $ 2,416 $ –

Accumulated Depreciation  (879)  –

Net book value $ 1,537 $ –

Total additions to buildings under finance leases during 2019 were $430 thousand.

10. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Accounts payable and accruals $ 16,333 $ 13,254

Post-employment benefits   3,099  2,914

    $ 19,432 $ 16,168

Accounts payable and accruals include lease liabilities relating to the lease of office space: 

Lease Liabilities

  2019 2018

         (000s)  (000s)

   

Current $ 847 $ –

Non-current   713  –

    $ 1,560 $ –
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11. BENEFITS LIABILITIES

i) Continuity schedule (Restated)

 2019 2018

 (000s) (000s)

    Short-term

    disability & Long-term Survivor Health

    rehabilitation benefits benefits care Total Total

              (Note 22)

Balance, beginning  

of year $ 160,015 $ 691,223 $ 77,491 $ 647,601 $ 1,576,330 $ 1,375,843

Add claims costs  

incurred:

 Current year injuries  46,455  48,979  1,079  48,266  144,779  173,917 

 Prior years’ injuries  (2,572)  (19,434)  3,277  (39,340)  (58,069)   193,835

    43,883  29,545  4,356  8,926  86,710  367,752

Less claims  

payments made:

 Current year injuries  10,503  410  222  11,535  22,670  29,986

 Prior years’ injuries  31,162  51,524  7,341  45,203  135,230  137,279

    41,665  51,934  7,563  56,738  157,900  167,265

Balance, end of year $ 162,233 $ 668,834 $ 74,284 $ 599,789 $ 1,505,140 $ 1,576,330

ii) Current year injuries (Restated)

 2019 2018

 (000s) (000s)

     Present   Present

     value of Claims  value of Claims

    Claims expected costs Claims expected costs

    payments future costs incurred payments future costs incurred

Short-term disability  

& rehabilitation $ 10,503 $ 35,952 $ 46,455 $ 12,078 $ 43,054 $ 55,132

Long-term disability  410  48,569  48,979  2,262  56,670  58,932

Survivor benefits  222  857  1,079  281  3,487  3,768

Health care  11,535  36,731  48,266  15,365  40,720  56,085

   $ 22,670 $ 122,109 $ 144,779 $ 29,986 $ 143,931 $ 173,917
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11. BENEFITS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

iii) Reconciliation of movement in benefits liabilities (Restated)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

       (Note 22)

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,576,330 $ 1,375,843

  

Add (deduct) changes in liabilities

Interest on liability  97,700  72,960

Payments and other transactions  (140,646)  (145,108)

     (42,946)  (72,148)

  

Balance, before adjustments  1,533,384  1,303,695

  

Claims experience (gains) losses

Actual costs more (less) than expected  (74,162)  37,358

Actual payments more (less) than expected  (21,658)  654

Difference between actual and expected inflation  (257)  (763)

Other experience (gains) losses  (75)  (383)

     (96,152)  36,866

Unusual items  

Change in valuation assumptions  (3,788)  -

Change in policy benefits  (21,882)  -

Change in occupational disease provision  (28,532)  91,838

     (54,202)  91,838

Provision for future costs of new injuries  122,110  143,931

Balance, end of year $ 1,505,140 $ 1,576,330
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

11. BENEFITS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

iv) Prior years’ injuries
Significant changes in prior years’ claims costs arising from the estimate of the benefits liabilities included the following:

 Increase (decrease) in benefits liabilities  
 and claims costs incurred

       (Restated)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Reduction in assumed indexing rate for CPI-indexed benefits $ (257) $ (763)

(Favourable) Unfavourable experience on health care costs  (15,201)  12,823

(Favourable) Unfavourable experience on survivor costs  361  (681)

(Favourable) Unfavourable experience on short-term disability costs  (7,411)  15,628

(Favourable) Unfavourable experience on long-term disability costs  (22,043)  2,418

(Favourable) Unfavourable experience on other costs*  (51,602)  7,442

Changes due to unusual items  (54,202)  91,838

* The favourable change is primarily due to a decrease in the provision for occupational disease related to noise-induced hearing loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

11. BENEFITS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

v) Claims development table
The following table presents the development of outstanding claims relative to the ultimate expected claims for the 10 most 
recent accident years. The table illustrates how the estimate of ultimate claims costs for each accident year has changed 
with more experience over succeeding year-ends, and compares the current estimate of cumulative claims cost to the actual 
cumulative payments over the development period. Due to the long duration of many benefit types, significant amounts will 
be paid beyond the valuation date. The lower section of the table reconciles the total outstanding claims amounts to the 
discounted amount reported in the balance sheet.
           
  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)

Accident year  2010  2011  2012  2013  2014  2015  2016  2017  2018  2019  Total

  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)

Estimate of ultimate  

claims cost:

At end of  

accident year $ 165,921 $ 149,697 $ 138,594 $ 166,755 $ 188,485 $ 165,013 $ 243,511 $ 260,987 $ 345,596 $ 273,933

One year later  146,210  130,102  167,329  178,132  168,355  211,451  274,009  298,527  317,341

Two years later  128,661  155,234  178,873  155,577  206,714  224,933  286,902  284,185

Three years later  156,417  162,370  159,033  176,043  210,662  233,431  287,958

Four years later  164,763  142,774  176,105  177,613  220,289  231,161

Five years later  145,988  152,864  175,455  182,469  215,913

Six years later  176,963  152,839  181,468  179,583

Seven years later  166,335  157,889  176,477

Eight years later  179,091  155,127

Nine years later  177,098

Current estimate  

of cumulative  

claims cost  177,098  155,127  176,477  179,583  215,913  231,161  287,958  284,185  317,341  273,933  2,298,776

Cumulative  

payments  (71,528)  (66,814)  (74,550)  (67,689)  (77,111)  (75,651)  (84,684)  (72,257)  (62,703)  (24,294)  (677,281)

Outstanding claims,

Undiscounted  105,570  88,313  101,927  111,894  138,802  155,510  203,274  211,928  254,638  249,639  1,621,495

2009 and prior years                     1,080,809

Total outstanding

Claims, undiscounted                     2,702,304

Discount                      (1,497,656)

Annuity – accrual                      97,052

Occupational diseases                     146,243

Other contingent  

liabilities*                      57,197

Total outstanding  

claims                     $ 1,505,140

*Consists primarily of liabilities for future annuity awards.
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12. ASSESSMENTS
       (Restated)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

       (Note 22)

Assessment revenue $ 261,911 $ 163,980

Interest and penalties  980  742

Uncollectibles  (940)  (501)

     261,951  164,221

Administration fee revenue

 Self-insured employers (Note 13)  10,608  10,013

    $ 272,559 $ 174,234

13. SELF-INSURED EMPLOYERS

Self-insured employers – predominantly federal and certain provincial government institutions – bear the direct cost of 
their incurred claims. WorkSafeNB administers these claims and charges self-insured employers an appropriate share of 
administration costs which is included in revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The benefits liabilities related to self-insured employers have not been included in WorkSafeNB’s benefits liabilities account. 
As these liabilities will be borne by those employers when paid in future years, they do not impact WorkSafeNB’s funded 
position.

During the year the following administration fee revenue and claims cost reimbursements were levied:

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Administration fee revenue $ 10,608 $ 10,013

Claims cost reimbursement

 Short-term disability  25,002  26,618

 Long-term disability  11,209  10,484

 Survivor benefits  1,016  901

 Health care  18,988  18,733

    $ 56,215 $ 56,736
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14. ADMINISTRATION

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Salaries and employee benefits $ 38,040 $ 37,303

Depreciation  3,375  2,825

Professional fees  6,214  5,302

Office and communications  2,002  2,127

Building operations  2,711  3,584

Travel and vehicle operations  1,111  994

Education and training  677  411

OHS investment  8  84

Other   1,041  1,258

     55,179  53,888

Allocated to health-care claims costs   (1,492)  (1,438)

    $ 53,687 $ 52,450

A portion of WorkSafeNB’s administration costs represents charges incurred by WorkSafeNB for its rehabilitation centre. This 
portion, which relates to claims, has been allocated to health care. 

15. LEGISLATIVE OBLIGATIONS

Although WorkSafeNB does not have input into the budgeting process for the workers’ and employers’ advocates, it is 
required by legislation to reimburse the provincial government for their operating costs.

In addition, WorkSafeNB provided financial assistance to certain New Brunswick safety associations in accordance with the 
WC Act. The money paid was levied against all employers in the industries represented by the safety associations and is 
included as part of assessment income.
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15. LEGISLATIVE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Workers’ advocates $ 935 $ 888

Employers’ advocates  342  294

Workers’ Compensation Appeals Tribunal  1,466  1,592

     2,743  2,774

New Brunswick Construction Safety Association  300  300

New Brunswick Forest Safety Association  190  190

Other   220  197

     710  687

    $ 3,453 $ 3,461

16. COMMITMENTS

Finance lease commitments
WorkSafeNB has finance leases for various office spaces with lease terms of five years and have no terms of renewal or 
purchase options. Future minimum lease payments under finance leases, together with the present value of the net minimum 
lease payments, are as follows:

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Due within one year $ 847 $ –

Due later than one year and less than five years  713  – 

Due later than five years  –  –

    $ 1,560 $ –

Investment commitments
Commitments related to investments are described in Note 7 vii.
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Government entities
These consolidated financial statements include the results of normal operating transactions with various provincial 
government controlled departments, agencies and Crown corporations, with which WorkSafeNB may be considered related. 
Routine operating transactions with related parties are settled at prevailing market prices under normal trade terms.

Key management compensation
Key management personnel of WorkSafeNB are deemed related parties. They include members of the board of directors and 
the executive committee. Total compensation for key management is detailed in the following table:

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Executive Committee

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits* $ 1,725 $ 1,257

Post-employment benefits  189  135

    $ 1,914 $ 1,392

     2019  2018

         (000s)  (000s)

Board of Directors

Salary and per diems $ 132 $ 173

*One new position was added in 2019; two new positions were added in the second half of 2018.
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18. EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN

WorkSafeNB and its employees participate in a multi-employer shared-risk pension plan, administered by the Province of 
New Brunswick under the Public Service Superannuation Act. The plan provides pensions to employees of the provincial 
government and certain Crown corporations and agencies based on:

• Service to December 31, 2013 – length of service and highest successive five-year average salary;
• Service from January 1, 2014 – length of service and career average salary.

Since sufficient information is not readily available to account for WorkSafeNB’s participation in the plan using defined benefit 
pension plan accounting, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting rules for defined 
contribution pension plans.

The current year expense for this pension plan is $4.0 million (2018 – $4.1 million).

19. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At any given time, WorkSafeNB is party to various claims and lawsuits related to the normal course of business. In the opinion 
of management, the outcome of such claims and lawsuits and the resulting effects on operations and financial position are 
not determinable.

20. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The World Health Organization (WHO) officially declared COVID-19 (the disease caused by a novel coronavirus) a pandemic 
on March 11, 2020. Management is closely monitoring the evolution of this pandemic, including how it may affect 
WorkSafeNB, the economy and our stakeholders. The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on WorkSafeNB’s operational and 
financial performance will depend on future developments, including the duration, spread of the outbreak and restrictions 
that are mandated. Management is not able to determine the financial impact of these events.

WorkSafeNB has taken actions to keep employees, the general public and those we serve safe: 

• WorkSafeNB has a pandemic plan and is following the advice of public health organizations.
• Employees have transitioned to working from home to ensure continuity of service to injured workers and employers.
•  WorkSafeNB has provided a three-month deferral to monthly assessed employers on payment of premiums and waiver 

of interest and penalties to all employers for the assessment payments associated with the payrolls for the months of 
February, March and April, and, 

•  WorkSafeNB has a disciplined treasury management process that ensures sufficient liquidity to meet our obligations to 
injured workers during the deferral period.
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20. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (CONTINUED)

Investments: Change in Fair Market Value (FMV) of investments subsequent to year end
Investment markets have experienced significant volatility related to the COVID 19 outbreak. Subsequent to year end, 
WorkSafeNB’s investment portfolio experienced a decline in the fair value of the investments, and as at April 30, 2020, the 
estimated fair value of the investments was $1.4 billion. The duration and extent of the economic impact of the COVID-19 
outbreak and resulting impact on WorkSafeNB’s investment portfolio is unclear at this time. These subsequent changes in the 
fair value of the investments are not reflected in the financial statements as at December 31, 2019. 

21. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain of the 2018 figures that are presented for comparative purposes have been reclassified to conform to the presentation 
adopted in the current year.

22. PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT

During the year, as part of planning for IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts implementation, WorkSafeNB completed a thorough 
review of its accounting for actuarial liabilities for self-insured employers. Previously reporting under IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts, benefit liabilities for self-insured employers were presented as a liability on the balance sheet with a corresponding 
receivable from the self-insured employer as an asset. Claim payments received from self-insured employers, payments of 
claims for self-insured employees and changes to the self-insured benefit liabilities were reported gross in the statement of 
operations.

WorkSafeNB concluded that self-insured employers do not fall within the scope of IFRS 4 and should be reported in accordance 
with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. As a result, prior year assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses were 
overstated. WorkSafeNB is correcting the errors by retrospectively restating prior period financial statement items. 
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22. PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The impact on the balance sheet is as follows: 

 As at December 31, 2018 As at January 1, 2018

 (000s) (000s)

    Originally Impact on  Originally Impact on

    reported correction Restated reported correction Restated

Assets      

Receivables and other $ 14,769  $ 3,209 $ 17,978 $ 11,129 $ 3,878  $ 15,007

Recoverable benefits 

liabilities  354,040  (354,040)  –  282,760  (282,760)  –

Liabilities

Benefits liabilities

 Assessed employers $ 1,561,298 $ – $ 1,561,298 $ 1,360,828 $ – $ 1,360,828

 Self-insured  

 employers  365,863  (350,831)  15,032  293,897  (278,882)  15,015

      

Funded position $ (234,070) $ – $ (234,070) $ 37,465 $ – $ 37,465
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22. PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The remaining benefits liabilities associated to self-insured employers relate to annuities, these are withheld from claim 
payments and scheduled to be disbursed when the injured workers turns 65 years of age.

The impact on the statement of operations is as follows:

  For the year ended December 31, 2018

  (000s)

       Originally Impact on

       reported correction Restated

Revenue

Assessments       $ 162,897 $ 1,324 $ 164,221

Self-insured employers        140,022  (130,009)  10,013

Expenses

Claims costs incurred

 Assessed employers       $ 366,460 $ 1,292 $ 367,752

 Self-insured employers       129,977  (129,977)  –

Net income (loss)       $ (267,067)  $ – $ (267,067)

The remaining self-insured employer income represents WorkSafeNB’s administrative income charged to self-insured 
employers as per Notes 12 and 13.
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FIVE-YEAR HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

       (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)

     2019  2018  2017  2016  2015

     (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 78,234 $ 65,916 $ 72,634 $ 144,690 $ 49,491

Receivables and other  19,086  17,978  15,007   13,354  16,895

Investments   1,521,714  1,294,663  1,356,440   1,225,384  1,303,416

Capital assets   10,667  10,076  11,046   10,376  9,517

    $ 1,629,701 $ 1,388,633 $ 1,455,127 $ 1,393,804 $ 1,379,319

LIABILITIES AND FUNDED POSITION

Payables and accruals  $ 19,432 $ 16,168 $ 16,372 $ 21,508 $ 20,464

Benefits liabilities   1,505,140  1,576,330  1,375,843  1,181,091  1,058,870

Total liabilities  1,524,572  1,592,498  1,392,215  1,202,599  1,079,334

WorkSafeNB funded position  77,657  (234,070)  37,465  171,804  286,605

Non-controlling interests  27,472  30,205  25,447  19,401  13,380

     105,129  (203,865)  62,912  191,205  299,985

    $ 1,629,701 $ 1,388,633 $ 1,455,127 $ 1,393,804 $ 1,379,319

Certain of the above figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in 2019.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

       (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)

     2019  2018  2017  2016  2015

     (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)

REVENUE

Assessment revenue $ 272,559 $ 174,234 $ 147,567 $ 102,814 $ 106,540 

Investment income  184,160  (17,638)  132,368  105,152  55,362 

     456,719  156,596  279,935  207,966  161,902 

EXPENSES

Claims costs incurred 

 Benefit payments  157,900  167,265  161,110  144,683  129,707 

 Changes in actuarial valuation  

 of benefit liabilities  (71,190)  200,487  194,752  122,221  108,859 

Total claims costs  86,710  367,752  355,862  266,904  238,566 

Administration  53,687  52,450  52,454  48,747  43,730 

Legislative obligations  3,453  3,461  3,865  3,402  3,677 

Appeals Tribunal  –  –  –  –  438 

     57,140  55,911  56,319  52,149  47,845 

Total expenses  143,850  423,663  412,181  319,053  286,411 

Net income (loss) for the year $ 312,869 $ (267,067) $ (132,246) $ (111,087) $ (124,509)

Net income (loss) for the year  

attributable to:

 WorkSafeNB  311,727  (271,535)  (134,339)  (114,801)  (126,341)

 Non-controlling interests  1,142  4,468  2,093  3,714  1,832 

    $ 312,869 $ (267,067) $ (132,246) $ (111,087) $ (124,509)

Certain of the above figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in 2019.
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FIVE-YEAR HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
CONSOLIDATED OF CHANGES IN FUNDED POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

     2019  2018  2017  2016  2015

     (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)  (000s)

WorkSafeNB

WorkSafeNB funded position,  

beginning of year $ (234,070) $ 37,465 $ 171,804 $ 286,605 $ 412,946 

Net income (loss) for the year  311,727  (271,535)  (134,339)  (114,801)  (126,341)

WorkSafeNB funded position,  

end of year $ 77,657 $ (234,070) $ 37,465 $ 171,804 $ 286,605 

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests funded position,  

beginning of year $ 30,205 $ 25,447 $ 19,401 $ 13,380 $ 3,005 

Capital contributions by non-controlling  

interests  1,766  515  6,395  4,541  8,543 

Distributions to non-controlling interests  (5,641)  (225)  (2,442)  (2,234)  – 

Net income (loss) for the year  1,142  4,468  2,093  3,714  1,832 

Non-controlling interests funded position,  

end of year $ 27,472 $ 30,205 $ 25,447 $ 19,401 $ 13,380 

Total funded position

Total funded position,  

beginning of year $ (203,865) $ 62,912 $ 191,205 $ 299,985 $ 415,951 

Capital contributions by non-controlling  

interests  1,766  515  6,395  4,541  8,543 

Distributions to non-controlling interests  (5,641)  (225)  (2,442)  (2,234)  –

Net income (loss) for the year  312,869  (267,067)  (132,246)  (111,087)  (124,509)

Total funded position, end of year $ 105,129 $ (203,865) $ 62,912  $ 191,205  $ 299,985 

Certain of the above figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in 2019.
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